4.1 Family History 81

4.1.3 gacag (Smuggling)

Speakers:
Abraham Ben-Eliyahu (Xlasci)
Yogev Yahezqel

hayi...

fagb-a...

l-ihiid badu...

’ktig ytolon qacag,

ytol'on ‘dla...

fal...

b-was’t l-akgad,

Swayya Swayya wu...
Swayya Swayya wu-qa-y...
wu-qa-ytlion.

ana,

and-i kan wéehad b-al...
mudiriyat al-amn al-‘am,
qal-l-i:

Ibrahim...

qa-ya‘gaf qa-yamson qacag.

qal-l-i:

anta la tam$i qacag.

ana lazom atll’...

apoll3*-ak.

ana qolto-l-u:

t'gaf,

and-i axi-yi...

and-i axi-yi b...

b-Landon sékan,

wu-ahna ma m...

sag ’snin m°n...

mPn-at-tasqit li-hassa ma ‘ayanna-
nu,

wu-qa...

wu-qa-ngid *ngiih *n*aysn-nu.
awwal $i galto-l-u da...

waldd-i wu-waldst-i d-agid atall5*-
am.

qal-l-i...

qal-l-i:

It...

Afterwards...

the Jews started...

many got smuggled (out of Iraq),
they got out through...
through...

with the help of the Kurds,

little by little...

little by little they...

they got out.

I;

I had someone (a friend) in the...
police,

he told me:

Abraham...

he knew that people are getting
smuggled.

He told me:

Don't get smuggled.

I have to (be the one that)...
gets you out.

I told him:

You know,

I have my brother...

I have my brother in...

living in London,

and we haven't...

it has been years...

since the (monarchy) fell till now
we haven't seen him,

and...

and we want to go see him.

First thing I told him that...

I want to smuggle my father and
mother out.

He told me...

He told me:
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4 Texts

sawwi ‘arida wu-gib-a l-al...

l-al-am®n,

wu-ana...

da-n*ayan balki arattsb-a.
qalto-l-u:

ana ma agi l-al-am°n.

len al-am®n sagat mantaqa mal...

b-as-Sa‘diin,

sob Park as-Sa‘diin.

axdu P-byiit kllot-a ‘ala-arba®
Sawara®,

sagat hayi mantaqa mal-al-am’n
mal-al-*Iraq k3llaot-a.

wu-qa...

wu-hayi...

qalto-l-u:

la,

ana ma...

la agi wala astiwi-ha.

qal-l-i:

zen su...

qalto-l-u:

aqdag ab‘dt-a b-maktiab musaggal?

qal-l-i:

i,
b%dt-a b-maktib musaggal.
walla biat...

stuwito-l-a ‘arida wu-b*atté-ha b-
maktiib musaggal.

I
‘aq’ yagi $ahgen tlati tal’at
muwafaqa,

hammi wu-ba®d yamkan $iyab
’tnen.

wu-ba‘den gaddat bat...
battlii-ha.

ma qabal hada mudir al-‘am.

Make a request and bring it to
the...

to the police department,

and I...

we will see if I can arrange it.

I told him:

I will not go to the police.
Because the police was
situated...

in Sa‘dan,

near Sa‘diin Park.

They took (over) all the houses
in the intersection (literally: on
four streets),

(and) it became the headquarters
of the police of Iraq.

And...

and this...

and I told him:

no,

I won't...

I will neither go nor do it (the
request).

He told me:

Okay...

I told him:

Can I sent it in a registered
letter?

He told me:

Yes,

Sent it in a registered letter.
Indeed...

I made a request and sent it in a
registered letter.

Yes.

After about two or three months
an approval was issued,

(for) them and for maybe two
other old people.

And then again...

they cancelled it...

The head of the police didn’t
agree.
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4.1 Family History 83

kan kallos dadd-I-ihiid.
hada abo...
asm-u Nadom °ksaf.

i
fa...

dolletu...
tali-ya ktig yhiid gamu-yamson.

gas’m...

gas’m *nlazmu gas’m ma nlazgmu.
ana ham rattabtu wiya-§ama‘a
annahu natla® ana wu-mgat-i wu-
bnat-i tnén...

natla’...

rattdb-“I-na,

ga axdd-ni.

fad-yom qolto-l-a:

ana ma amsi.

ha...

b-al-awwal...

b-al-awwal ga axad-ni wu-tla*ana
gkabna kjllat-na b-as-siyara,
wassdl-na l-al-Battawin asu raga®.

i

qa-yahki hiiwi s-sayaq b-al-kagdi
ma qad-aftdham.

i

qalto-l-u:

ha?

asu rga‘t?

qal...

hada qa-yqil...

kan *stawwa seyyag hadna beén-
ra‘is al-wuzard?,

kan fAbd ar-Rahman ol-Bazaz,

sawwa hadna wiya-lo-kgad,
wu-l-harb bindat-am twaqqfat.

i

23 Probably refers to his wife.

He was really against the Jews.
He...

His name was Nadom °ksaf.

Yes.

And...

I kept on...

Afterwards many Jews started to
get out.

Some...

some got caught and some didn't.
I also arranged with a friend that
me, my wife, and my two
daughters...

will get out.

He arranged it for us,

He came to take me.

One day I told her®:

I am not going (out of Iraq).
oh...

at first...

at first he came to take me and
we all traveled in (his) car.

We got to Battawin and suddenly
he turned back.

Yes.

This driver spoke Kurdish so I
didn’t understand.

Yes.

I told him:

Hey?

Why did you turn back?

He said...

he is saying...

Truce was just achieved between
the prime minister,

who was *Abd ar-Rahman sl-
bazaz,

he made truce with the Kurds,
and the war between them has
stopped.

Yes.
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=

wu-qa-ysuwon kan *htafal *wniki b-

hada.

qal:

hassa ma... ma...

ma maslaha tagon,

len taftis aku b-at-tariq.

MB(fa torkii-ha kam yom wu-
hada)™®,

walla rga‘na...

gaddena rga‘na l-al-bét.
ahna as...

as seylin?

koll weh...

ganta zgay...

pasportat axadtom?

HE(lé )HE’

HE(lé )HE’

maku pasportat.

gadtom tanhagmaon ya’ni?

i,

nanhdzam.

tt’faqtu wiya-wehad annahu
yaxid-na llo-na,

qal ygid tmanmit...

tmoanmit dindr.

at'i-nu agba'miyi li-qgaddam,

wu-agba*miyi mon nisal hawi
yagbid-a m’n-§ama‘a.
wu-‘ala-hayyi dagb tanhazmon?

‘ala-tariq *Slémaniyi wa...
wadda-na.

ya‘ni I-Tdrkya?
la

-Iran.

Iran.

i

Iran.

tali-ya,
‘aq’b-’sbii* qal-l-i:
yalla,

4 Texts

And they were making a party
there.

He said:

now it's not...

not good that you come,
because there is inspection on
the road.

So drop it for a few days and
(all) that.

Indeed we came back...

we came back home again.
What did we...

what were we carrying?
Each...

a small suitcase...

Did you take passports?

No,

no,

there were no passports.

It means that you wanted to flee?

Yes,

we (wanted to) flee.

I agreed with someone that he
would take us,

he said he wants 800...

800 Dinar.

I should give him 400 in
advance,

and 400 once we arrived he
would get it from friends.

And through which way would
you flee?

Through the road to Slémaniyi...
He took us.

It means to turkey?

No!

To Iran.

Iran.

Yes,

Iran.

Then,

After a week he told me:
Okay,
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4.1 Family History 85

thaddag gada mn-as-sbah.
qal-l-i:

ana hassa-agi l-al-Battawin,
wu-atlaga wiyd-k b-al-Battawin
wu-hada.

i

ana nzaltu l-al-Battawin.
mn-al-*Alwiya l-al-Battawin,
wsaltu lqito-nu qa-yomsi,

al-kalb abn al-kalb Ié...

lebas 1-°*hwas mal-lo-kgad.

hayyi wehad y*ané-nu wiya-kagdi
yqél-l-ak** hada ra’san ylaqfo-nu,

yqdl-l-ak hada qa-ygid yamsi
qacag.

qalto-l-u...

qalto-l-u:

asson®?

anta gith,

ana agi l-al... l-al... l-al hada...
li-sob-as-siyarat.

gah huwi,

ana gkabtu b-as-siyara,

gohtu b-hal-kagga b-bahdi.
gkabna gohna....

ma qal’t-lI-u yaslah-a I-hwas?

la,

as yaslah-a I-°*hwas?

ma yhamm.

hawi kagdi,

as ‘ond-i?

kannu ma ya*gaf-ni wala a’gaf-u.

wsalna ...

be ready tomorrow morning.
He told me:

I will come to Battawin,

and meet you in Battawin and
all.

Yes.

I went to Battawin.

From ‘Alwiya to Battawin,

I got there and saw him walking,
this son of a bitch...

wearing Kurdish clothes.
When they see anyone with a
Kurd they immediately catch
him,

(since) he wants to flee.

I told him...

I told him...

How come?

You go,

(and) I will come to... to this...
close to the cars.

He went,

(and) I drove the car,

I went alone this time.

We took the car and went...
Didn't you tell him to change his
clothes?

No,

he will not change his clothes
(rhetorically: what will he
change his cloths?).

It's not important.

He is a Kurd,

It is not my business
(rhetorically: what do I have?)
As if he doesn't know me and I
don't know him.

We arrived to...

24 ygqol-l-ak literally means 'he tells you', but in this case it impersonlly refers to a hearsay.
25 The | in the compound aslon assimilated into the following . This occurs quite
frequently.
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4 Texts

ginal...

l-al-mawaqa...

hayi kanat basat tongal *as’g
nafarat hékad.

gkabna...

gkabna b-al... gkab...

qal-l-i:

hayis...

qa-yqsl-l-i,

ya‘ni huwi kannu wniki ma
ya'sof...

MB(hayi Sléman...

[>-Slemaniya mann-a hayi s-
sayarat)™®,

gitu gkabtu b-as-siyara,
wu-hitwi ham gakab b-as-siyara.
i
wu-ba®d goniid kanu wu-Sarta
hami wu-ktig...

ya'ni ‘asga awadom.

walla wsaltu l-2s-Slemaniyi.
baqa aku taftis b-at-tariq.

anal...
l-hawiya mal-i msawi-ya Ibrahim
Xalasci,

hatti mon yagdon agwi-hom
hawiya.
bas “I-Xalasci swayya harraftii-ha,

sagat Xalasi.

konnu hada aku ‘alom mal-§i‘a
kbig b-al-Nagaf...

bet al-Xalasi.

i
qa-y‘anti-ha l-hawiyi wu-ma qa-
yqulon sen.

wsaltu l-as-Slemantyi.

wadda-ni l-bet axt-u.

battu hadiki I-lel...

We came to...

the statio...

there were busses taking 10
people or so.

We took...

we took the...

He told me:

This...

He was telling me,

as if he doesn't know (what's
going on) there...

Sléman...

Slémaniya has this kind of cars®.

I came and took a ride,

And he also took the ride.

Yes.

And also some soldiers and
policemen and a lot of...

I mean ten people.

Indeed I got to Sléemaniyi.

But there was inspection on the
way.

I...

my identification document is
made (with the name) Ibrahim
Xalasci,

so that when they want I could
show them a document.

But I modified the Xalas¢i a
little,

and it became Xalasi.

Like the great authority of the
Shi'ites in Nagaf...

(whose) family (name) is Xalasi.
Yes.

They saw the document and
didn't say a thing.

I arrived to Slémaniyi.

He took me to his sister's house.
I spent that night there...

26 Refers to the ten people's bus that was mentioned before.
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4.1 Family History

anta b-bahd-ak?

b-bahd-i.

qalto-l-a ana...

qalto-l-u:

l-kagga ana agi wu-a*ayan l-wad'lyi
yalla hada... )
wsaltu l-tiniki,

qal-l-i:

ana gada mn-°s-sbah amsi wu-agib-
am.

walla tini yom gah l-al...
ga l-Bagdad wu-gab-am...

gab-om wu-ga.

wu-hommi lebsin *abi lo-bnat wu-
hada.

i
ham saylo-nu qalo-l-u:
hayi hadoli askun?
qal...

qal-l-om:

MB(walla hdyi batt...
batt-hom* b-a4...
b-ag-gama‘a hna b-as-
Sleman...)™-...

baqa sagat §gamoa‘a b-as-
Slemaniyi...
b-ag-gama‘a,

wu-go0 qa-yzugi-ha.
axad-na...

ham wadda-na b-geg bet,

nazzdl-na b-bet ab’n axt-u.

wu-xabbjt-na hadiki I-leli wniki,
wu-qal:

ana qad-amsi hassa wu-arga* *le-
kam.

baga ‘a-n-nafar *tmonmiyi?

87

You were alone?

Alone.

I told her I...

I told him:

This time I will come and see the
situation and only then...

I arrived there,

he told me:

Tomorrow morning I will go in
the morning to bring them (the
wife and the girls).

On the next day he really went
to...

he came to Baghdad and brought
them...

he brought them and came.
And the girls wore abaya and
that.

Yes.

They also asked him saying:
Who (literally: what) are they?
He said...

He told them:

It is that this girl...

their daughter is in...

the university here in
Slémaniyi...

There was founded a (new)
university in Slémaniyi...

(She is) in the university,

and they came to visit her.

He took us...

he also took us to a different
house,

he hosted us in the house of the
son of his sister.

And she hid us there that night,
and he said:

I am going now and will come
back for you.

It was 800 (Dinar) per person?

27 The n of the word bant 'daughter' assimilated into the final t.
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4 Texts
HE(51 No!
o)™ No!
kdllbot-na... For all of us....
kdllot-na. for all of us.

’n-nafar miten.
i
ahna qa‘din ad-dah’,

stiwo-l-na gadwiyi qa-natgadda,

ma asiif alla®® huwi ga daqq ’l-bab

wu-qal:

yalla!

hoatti ma tgaddena ba*d.
gamna.

geyyi b-siyara Landrovar.

Gib.

wu-tla*na gkabna bi-ya.
baqa...

as seylin?

gan’tten *zgar m°n-hayi mal-id
maku?

b-ide-na.

kalla hayi t-talla’nda-ha 1P-hwds.

walla,

tla‘na,

qal-l-u l-as-sayaq:

tla® m°n-turugq °lli ma bi-ya taftis
ma taftis,

i
wsalna ila nahya yassamii-ha
nahyat Mawat ‘ala l-hadiid mal...
mal-Iran.

wsalna hawali satti wu-nass al-
magrab.

kanat hayi b-$ah’¢ Marc.

wsalna l-tiniki,

qal:

hassa y...

28 The construction ma + verb of perception + alla conveys a surprising development in

the narrative (Bar-Moshe 2017: 188).

200 per person.

Yes.

We were sitting at noon,

they prepared lunch for us (and)
we were eating,

suddenly I see him coming,
knocking on the door and saying:
Let's go!

We haven't even eaten lunch.
We got up.

He came with a Landrover.

A Jeep.

And we took it.

But...

what did we carry (with us)?
Two suitcases that can be hand-
carried, you know?

In our hands.

This is all the cloths that we
took.

Indeed,

we went out,

he told the driver:

Take us through roads that don't
have inspection,

Yes.

We arrived to a region called
Mawoat on the border with...
with Iran.

We arrived at around half past
six in the evening.

It was in March.

We arrived there,

(and) he said:

Now...
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honi hassa ygibo-l-na I*-bgil wu-
nagkab °bgil wu-ngiih.

wu-dalléna qa-nastandor.
asu la bgil wala hada?

ma $afna alla hada l...

hada l...

hawi ‘aydn-u hada l-trattab wiya-
un l-qacardi,

l-igib 1°-bgil,

‘aydn-u ga li-honi,

bet-u wniki b-adiki [-mantaqa I*-
nzalna bi-ya b-al-gas,

b-gas l-alayi.

walla ga.

asu hada qa-y’s$$ag-I-na b-id-u i
hékad:

guhu gahu gahu!

i
hada nazal...
nazal le-nu rak’d.

i

ftdham monn-am...

ma a’gaf a¥ hadddt-u,

ga hada gakab b-as-siyara,
qal-l-u l-as-sayaq:

yalla rga’!

qalto-l-u:

yaba askun narga*?

ma...
ma qa-ygawab.
’nla...

’nlagam.

ma...

ma qa-ygawab.
wallan,

doni lel,
r§a‘na.

They will bring the mules here
now and we will ride on them
and go.

And we kept waiting.

But there were neither mules nor
anything.

Suddenly we saw this...

this...

he saw the smuggler with which
he handled things,

the one that brings the mules,
he saw him coming here
(towards us),

his house was there at the
entrance to the area where we
got down,

at the entrance of the town.
Indeed, he came.

We saw him signaling to us with
his hands like that:

Go go go!

Yes.

He went down...

He went down to him (to the
smuggler) running.

Yes.

He understood from them...

I don't know what he told him,
he came on into the car,

(and) told the driver:

Go back!

I told him:

What does it mean (that) we go
back?

He didn't...

he didn't answer.

He sh...

he shut down.

He didn't...

he didn't answer.

Anyway,

it was dark,

we went back.
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4 Texts

baqa hayi mantaqa gobaliyi,
ada tamsi...

b-ag-gbil qa-tamsi,

ada got siyarten yangad. ..

ma talqi siyara togi b-ada t-tariq.

yangad tiqaf as-siyara wu-tsuwi-l-a

tariq l-adiki s-siyara hatti...

hotti tamsi.

zeén.

adall-agal-l-u:
as-aku?

ma yaqgbal yq3l-l-i.
nlagam.

L
tali-ya qal-l-i:

sma‘!

hada bohi ana ma kantu honi?
‘an..

‘ayno-ni wiya-hada l-qacarci l-laxi,

lli mhadddr-1-i l-al...

hada,

mrattsb-a wiya-nu,
wu-§-$orta ba'tet fle-nu.
qal-l-i:

l-yom...

hayi...

bohi sadar awamar annahu
ylozmii-ha l-hadiid,

ya‘ni l-Sorta.
kanu hammi hémli-ha swayya,

hatti l-yamsi yaqdag yamsi.

wu-hassa maku.
lezmi-ha I-hadiid maku...

maku maswa.

It was a mountainous region,
if you go...

you drive in the mountains,

If two cars were coming (one
towards the other) you need...
You can (barely) find a car that
goes in this road,

you need to stop the car and
clear the road for the other car
so that...

so that it could go.

Okay.

I kept on telling him:

What's going on?

(But) he didn't agree to tell me.
He shut up.

Yes.

Afterwards he told me:

Listen!

Yesterday I was here, right?
They s...

they saw me with this other
smuggler,

who arranged for me the...
this (all thing),

With the one I handled things,
and the police called for him.
He told me:

Today...

this...

yesterday orders were published
(where it was stated) that they
will control the borders,

I mean the police,

as if they were turning a blind
eye a bit (so far),

so that anyone who wants to
Cross can Ccross.

But no longer.

They are keeping the border
(and) there isn't...

no crossing (is possible
anymore).
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wu-qalo-l-u l-hada:
anta bohi kan wiya-k °flan,

hada na‘®gaf-u hada. ..
Yoo Yeuu

ygib...
qacagci ygib yhiid hami.

ada... ada...

ahna...

ada ga hada wu-hada,
ahna nwaqqsf-kam.
baqa xafu wu-rga‘na.

i

qalto-l-u:
zen,
aslon...?
qat:

ahna niisal l-as-Slémaniyi.
ada...

ma kan talifonat,

aku...

lasalki and-am,

qat:
ada ta‘u lasalki m°n-hayi L..

lo-mkan hada qalu annahu go
gamd‘a qa... qa...

qa-yamson wu-rag'u b-’t-tariq,
ylozmo-na bagq...

ylozmo-na,

wu-aku b-nass l-gbil aku wniki
mawqaf mal-Sarta.

i
ada ma t*06-ham xabag,

ham lazom b-al-lasalki,

ohna ma flé-na kall $én.

bass niisal l-as-Slemaniyi ma ‘le-
kam kall sen.

And they (the police) told him:
Yesterday someone was with
you’

We know him...

he...

he brings...

he is a smuggler that also brings
(smuggles) Jews.

If... if...

we...

if he comes (again) and (all) that,
we will arrest you.

So they were scared and we went
back.

Yes.

I told him:

Okay,

How (are we going to go back)?
He said:

We will arrive to Slémaniyi.
If...

there were no telephones,

there is...

they (the police) had a radio
system,

He said:

If they radio-transmitted from
this...

this place saying that people
came to...

to cross and went back the road,
they will arrest us...

they will arrest us,

and in the middle of the
mountains there was a police
barricade.

Yes.

If they didn't deliver any
message,

also through the radio,

we are safe.

Once we arrived to Slémaniyi
you are safe.
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walla...
baqa l-naswan 1ébsin *abi,

wu-ana lebas mat’l-lo-klaw wu-
hada...

i,

wu-qa...

wu-qa-namsi.

wu-kall ma y*ayan dawa mal-
siyd... ‘

styara mn-°"bid,

mu b-ada t-tariq,

b'ge-g .tariq;

yxammol qa-ya..

qa-yagon ‘le-na.

wsalna ila ...

hada...

[-mawqaf mal-as-Sarta.

d-doni dolme,

wu-hiiwi §¢%l1 °s-siyara,

se%l °d-dawa.

ma n*ayan alla Sarta tnén waqfu
wu-b-i...

wu-kall wehad b-id-u tofga,

hekad b-al-agd 1ézém-q,
wu-wa...

waqqfst-a I’-siyara,

i
hada...

nazal,

i

qalo-l-u:

ha?

haggi Karim!

wen b-al-lel hada?

qal-l-am:

MB(walla kan ‘ad-na ‘or’s b-
Mawat)VE, ..

hayi nahya Mawat “l-kanna bi-ya,

29 A Muslim skullcap.

Indeed...

the women (the wife and
daughters) were wearing abayas,
and I was wearing a Klaw* and
that...

yes’

and...

and we drove away.

and every time that he saw the
light of a ca(1)...

car from afar,

not in this road,

but in other one,

he thought they...

they were coming for us.

We arrived to the...

this...

police barricade.

It was dark,

he (kept) the car turned on,

he turned on the lights.

We suddenly saw two policemen
standing and...

and each one had a gun in his
hand,

that he was holding diagonally,
and...

and they stopped the car,

yes.

He...

went down,

yes.

They told him:

Hey?

Hagg karim!

Where (are you going) this late?
He told them:

We had a wedding in Mawat...

(he referred to) Mawat region in
which we were.
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fal-hadiid,

wu-hassa rga‘na.

i

qalo-l-u:

tfaddal *msi!

i I

ma ‘anu mani ma mani.

qa-y‘anon...

qal-l-u hiiwi wu-*a’...
hawi wu-*a’l5t-u.
wsalna ...

wsalna l-as-Slémaniyi...
wsalna l-as-Slémaniyi,
sagat tagriban b-al..
b-al-*asga wu-nass. ..
b-al-lel.

i;

b-“l-ida’s.

gah b-al-awwal sayal:
ahhad sayal *lé-nu?

b-bet axt-u,

b-bét hada ma...?
qalo-l-u:

mahhad.

kall ahhad sayal *le-k.

qa-yxaf laykun wasal xabag *le-
ni.

i

qat:

antom °tdollon honi b-as-Slemaniyi
wu-ba...

wu-ma ‘lé-kam kall $én.

ana...

lomman °nsif ¢ara.

qalto-l-u:

ana ma adoll len qad-axaf al...

[-bét mal-na b-Bagdad.
mon ‘anu yom yumen ma bi-nu
ahhad,

kanu-yastawlon *le-nu l-am’n,

on the border,

and we just came back.

Yes.

They told him:

Please, go!

Yes, yes.

They didn't see who (else was in
the car).

They saw...

he told him that he is with...
he is with his family.

We arrived to...

we arrived to Slémantiyi...

we arrived to Slémantiyi...

it was around...

half past ten...

at night.

Yes,

eleven.

At first he went to ask:

Did anyone ask for him?

In his sister's house,

in the house of...?

They told him:

No one.

No one asked about you.

He was afraid that any news
about him had arrived.

Yes.

He said:

You will stay here in Slémaniyi
and...

nothing will happen to you.
I..

until we find a solution.

I told him:

I won't stay because I am
afraid...

(about) our house in Baghdad.
When they (the Iraqi authorities)
saw that no one is in it (in the
house) for one or two days,
the police used to take over it,
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wu-ba®d ma ta...
wen...
wen °tgih ada rga’t?

qalto-l-u:

la!

ana agid hassa l-yom amsi.
gonnd*-u l-ada abu L...

’ngid siyara tagbal tamsi l-al...

[-Bagdad,
ma... ma qa...
ma qablu b-al-lel.

B: ya‘nu torga® I-Bagdad?
A:  arga® [-Bogdad.

galtu...

walla...

b-al-atna,

ahna waqqafin,
qalto-l-u:

gonnd®-u l-ada abu...
abu l...

l-kagdi hada abu l-Landroévar 3lli...

olli axad-na,
balki yagbal yomsi -Bagdad?

ma qabal.

walla b-al-atna got siyara.
ar-raqg’m mal-a Bagdad,
wu-saysq-a. ..

mal-wéhad kagdi,
geyyib...

wesl...

stawwa geyyi m°’n-Bagdad,
qal-l-u:

MB(trith I-Bagdad?)™®
qal-l-u:

MB(walla hassa gai wu-ta‘ban,

4 Texts

and then you couldn't...
where...

(Rhetorically:) where will you go
if you came back?

I told him:

No!

I want to travel (back) today.
Persuade the owner of the...
We wanted a car that would
agree to travel to...

to Baghdad,

no...

(but no one) agreed (to travel) at
night.

You mean you wanted to go back
to Baghdad?

(I wanted) to get back to
Baghdad.

I said...

indeed...

and then,

(while) we were standing,

I told him:

Convince this...

the one who...

the Kurd who owns the
Landrover who...

who took us,

maybe he will agree to drive to
Baghdad?

He didn't agree.

And then a car came.

A new Dodge car,

with a Bagdad plate,

and its driver...

owned by a Kurd,

it came...

arriv...

It just came from Baghdad.
He told him:

Are you going to Baghdad?
He told him:

I just came and I am tired,
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ada mumkon l-as-subah?)ME
qal-l-u:

MB(%and-i gama‘*a wu-hadola. ..
al-mara matiarda)™®,

ya*ni maridi kallas,
wu-yangad-ywaddii-ha l-al-
mustasfa b-Bagdad.

i
ada taqdag trattsb-a hassa?
i

qat:

ma yxalof.

MB(itit-ni,

gibu tman Dananir)™®,
qalto-l-u:

yalla-ydlla!

qal ygid mit Dinar at'i-nu.

i

walla...

gah dag bangzin,

wu-gina l-al-bet.

dxaltu tal...

ta®...

qad-assh-l-am P-bnat.
logmii-ha l-omm-am,

wehad m°n-on wu-m°n-on...

konnu maridi,

ma qa-taqdag tamsi.
stiwena tamtiliy.
wu-lobbasin hammi %bi,
wu-gkabna b-as-si...
wu-gkabna b-as-siyara wu-qa...
wu-qa-ygogs.

walla tariq ‘ad?l,
hiwi...

t-tablit hadit ksllot-u.
wsalna ...

can it be in the morning?

He told him:

I have a group and they...

the women is sick,

I mean very sick,

and they need to take her to the
hospital in Baghdad.

Yes.

Can you manage it now?
Yes.

He said.

Never mind.

Give me,

give me 8 Dinars.

I told him:

Let's jump at the opportunity
(If) he would have said that he
wanted 100 Dinar I would have
given him.

Yes.

Indeed...

He went and filled the tank,
and we came to the house.

I came in...

I went i...

(and) called the girls.

They held their mother,

one from here and (one) from
here...

as if she was sick,

and she couldn't walk.

We made a show.

And they wore abayas,

And we took the...

and we took car and...

he drove.

The road was straight,

it...

the pavement was entirely new.
We arrived to...

309

30 This expression repeats the word yalla 'let's go' twice as a single intonation unit.
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4 Texts

ha baga awwal ma tla‘na m°n-as-
Slemaniyi naqtat taftis aku.

y'anon ma...
hawi qal-l-am..

haka wiya-ham b-al-kagdi qal-lI-am:

MB(hayi ma... ma...

marida)™® wu-qa-ygidon ywaddi-
ha l-al-mustasfa.

l-Bagdad.

ma...

la dawgu hawiyat wala hada.

wu-tla‘na.

madxal mal-Karkitk ham taftis
laxi.

ham...

ham qal-l-om hékad wu-tla‘na.

L
zen.
tal’a m°n-Karkitk ham ka-dalok.

di*! wsalna...

wsalna ila Bagdad.

baqa b-Bagdad hada markaz ’kbig
hada awwal ma tadxal mn...
mn...

li-Bagdad.

qal-l-i,

mn-as-Slemaniyi li-Bagdad kam
sa‘a b-as-siyara?

hiyi hawali tlatmiyi wu-xamsin
kelomatar.

i
tlatmi. ..

mn-as-Slemaniyi l... nagi...
miyi wu-kstr ila Karkiik,
wu-m°n-Karkiik l-iinik hawali
miten.

Oh there was an inspection point
just when we went out of
Slemaniyi.

They saw...

he told them...

he spoke to them Kurdish and
told them:

She is...

sick and they want to take her to
the hospital.

To Baghdad.

no...

they neither looked for the IDs
nor anything.

And we went out (of Sléemantyi).
(At the) entrance to Kirkuk there
was also another inspection.
Also...

He also told them the same and
we went out.

Yes,

Okay.

(In the) exit from Kirkuk it was
also like that.

Till we arrived...

we arrived to Baghdad.

In Baghdad there was a big
(police) center just when you
enter from... from...

to Baghdad.

Tell me,

How many hours is it from
Slemaniyi to Baghdad by car?
It's around 350 km.

Yes.

300...

from Slémaniyi to...

100 and something to Kirkuk,
and from Kirkuk to there around
200.

31 An ideophone that conveys the message of long time that passed.
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4.1 Family History 97

li-Bagdad.

i;

zeén.

wsalna...

qoalto-l-ak,

wsalna wacc-gabsa hekad,
to'gof...

doni bahar.

waqqafin,

siyarat $orta siyarat mal-‘askariyi,
wu-hdayi °l-man...
montaqa mal-taftis *kbigi.
walla asu ‘ayné-na qalu:

futu!

tla‘na.

dalletu afakkar annhu axd-u l-ada
s-sa’aq ywasssl-ni l-al-bét.

balla ylozmo-nu t-tali wu-qal ana
gobto-ham l-ada l-bet.

tali-ya,

fokkartu galtu:

hayi...

ahsan m°n-anzgal...
anzal wu-axad taksi wu...
balla...

wu... wu-hada.
nzalna.

gitu ‘al-bet,

ftahtu bab al-hadiqa,
ma maqfil.

ya‘ni ma...

ma malkiik,

ma bi-nu lakka.

L..

bab al-bet ma molkiik.

fgaftu ma hada. ..
mahhad ga.
dxalna l-al-bét...

To Baghdad.

Yes,

Okay.

We arrived...

I told you,

we arrived at dawn,

you know...

it was chilly.

There were standing...

police cars (and) army cars.
And this ar...

(was) a big inspection area.
Surprisingly they saw us and
said:

Pass!

We got out (of there).

I kept on thinking whether I
should use this driver to take me
home.

But they might stop him and
then he could say (changes to
direct speech) I took them to this
house.

Then,

I thought and said:

It...

it would be better if I go down
I go down and take a cab and...
Really...

and (all) that.

We went down.

I came home,

I opened the garden's gate,

It wasn't locked.

I mean it wasn't...

it wasn't sealed (by the police),
it didn't have a seal.

The...

the door of the house was (also)
not sealed.

I knew that not...

nobody came.

We entered into the house...
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dxalna l-al-bét,

sagat ad-doni satti wu-nass as-sbah.

I

d-agid at’akkad annhu sag $én ma
sag sen...

aku sob-na shna b-al-*Alwiya aku
s0q...

aku wehad abu "E(makkollet) "t
asm-u Mhammad,

gitu le-nu golto-l-u:

t'I-ni hlib tI-ni xab’z.

I

maku...

ma haka kall $én wala qgal M¥(wén
&anat ma wen Canat) ME?

I

zeén.

tali-ya gahtu ‘al-abu I-lah’m.

abu l-lah®m kan qassab wiya-nu
wehad maslom asm-u *Ali,

hiuwi yag_ibah wu... wu-hada.

wu-hada yahki haki yhiid,
ma ta*gaf annahu maslom hada.

qalto-l-u:
Al
wen?

asu ma b*att-1-i*2 lah’m?
qal-l-i:

mahhad qal-l-i.

qalto-l-u:

ana ma b%tto-l-ak xabag wiya-
mgat a§-Sammas.

aku sob-na b-as-sla,

b-al-*Alwiya.
qalto-l-u:

we entered into the house,

it was half past six in the
morning.

Yes.

I wanted to make sure that
nothing happened...

there was a market near us in
‘Alwiya...

there was a grocer named
Mhammad,

I came to him and told him:
Give me milk and bread.

Yes.

Nothing...

he neither said a thing nor said
"where have you been?".

Yes.

Okay.

Then I went to the butcher.
With the butcher worked a
Muslim butcher named *Ali,

he used to butcher... and (all)
that.

And he spoke the Jewish dialect,
you couldn't know that he was a
Muslim.

I told him:

Al

what's going on? (Literally:
where?)

Why haven't you sent me meat?
He told me:

No one told me.

I told him:

But I sent you a message with the
synagogue's beadle's wife.
There was (one) in the
synagogue next to us,

In ‘Alwiya.

I told him:

32 The t of the root assimilates to the personal suffix t. This happens twice more in the
following utterences.
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b%tto-l-ak xabag tab*dt-1-i lah’m
gig.
qal-l-i:

wu-hassa ma sag sen.

xad as qa-tgid.

ana hassa all3*-1-ak.
i

tlld*-1-i lah’m,

gaftu ma haka $én,
gaftu ma...

maku kall séni,

ya'ni masmu‘at sagat.

rga‘tu l-al-Battawin....
gohtu l-al-Batta....
tgiyaqtu wu-gahtu l-al-Battawin.

dxaltu I-beét xal-i,

qalu...
Saftd-ham mabhutin man ‘and-ni.

qalu:
lobal-na n’lzamt lén kan...

lazmu yagi-2$gin tletin wehad b...

b-as-Slemantyi wu-gabo-ham
wagf...

miiqufin b-al-am’n,

wu-ana ma a‘gaf.

b-as-Slémaniyi ma na*gaf kall Sen.

zeén.

walla.

qaltu:

ahsan $en su d-asawwi tbat wgiid.
aku qahwa hayi sob qahwat Hasan
yga*don bi-ya l-ihiid mn-as-sbah.

I sent a message for you to send
me some chicken.

He told me:

Never mind (literally: and now
nothing happened).

Take whatever you want.

I will prepare it for you.

Yes.

He took out some meat for me,
I knew that he didn't say a thing,
I knew that nothing...

there is nothing (wrong),

I mean (that no) rumors were
spread.

I went back to Battawin...

I went to Batta...

I had breakfast and went to
Battawin.

I went into my maternal uncle's
house,

they said...

I saw them scared when they saw
me.

They said:

We thought that you were caught
because there was...

they caught around 20-30 people
in...

in Slémaniyi and they brought
them...

they are arrested in the police,
and I didn’t know.

In Slemaniyi we didn't know a
thing (about it).

Okay.

Really.

I said:

I rather show my presence.
There was a coffee house near
Hasan's coffee house in which
the Jews used to sit in the
mornings.
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gitu l-tniki maddétu gas-i ya‘ni
gad-adawwag ‘ala-wéhad.

i
baga aku wehad wniki qal-l-am,

qal:

walla hadoli hayi yhiid-na ma
yangoron.

ma $ay‘u bohi Abraham tala*
qacag?

ma-hada ma Abraham?

i

asson ystwon hayi lo-hkiyat
hekad?

zen.

gaddetu tla‘tu *ala-qahwa b-al-
‘Alwiya,

ham yqa*don bi-ya ...

hayi...
b-al-falka mal-*Alwiya,
walla qa-ysafnon *1é-yi.

ya'ni $aat 28-5i'i ana tla*atu qacag.

i

fala-kallon,

rga‘tu...

rga‘tu l-al-bet wu-dollena....

dallena.
hada sadiqi ygall...
kall sa‘a wu-sawa-l-i:

ana all3*-l-ak pasaport,
ana all3*-l-ak pasaport,
wu-l-awadam qa-tat'i alafat,

wu-qa-yqas’mro-ham.
yaxdo-ha P-fliis wu-ma yat...

wu-maku $en.

I went there and I turned my
head as if I was looking for
someone.

Yes.

There was someone there who
told them,

he said:

These Jews of ours are
insufferable.

Didn't they spread yesterday the
rumor that Abraham ran away?
Isn't it Abraham over there?
Yes.

How come they are doing these
things?

Okay.

I went to another coffee house in
‘Alwiya,

in which (the Jews) also used to
sit,

it...

in the square of *Alwiya,

(and the people there) were
gazing at me.

It means that the rumor that I
ran away was already spread.
Yes.

Anyway,

I went back...

I went back home and we
stayed...

we stayed (in Iraq).

This friend of mine was saying...
he all the time told (literally:
did) me:

I will issue you a passport,

I will issue you a passport,

and the people gave thousands
(of Dinars),

but they were being deceived.
They took their money and didn't
giv...

and nothing.
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baga hada qab’l...

qab’l...

tmoan... tmantasag ta...

gad... gadd-tal®at al-muwdfaqa
mal-waldd-i wu-waldst-i,

‘al-asdas annahu ydaf*on kall wéhad
alf wu-xam?smit Dinar kafala,

hatti ada ma yarga® *tgith hayi l-
kafala.

walla rattabtii-ha.

and-i sadiq muhami qal-l-i:

ana atkaffdl-l-am,

wala tadfd*-l-am.

kan migqif ‘and-am b-al... b-al...

Qasg °n-Nohaya.
qalto-l-u:
wal-ak takal-a wu-t-tali tqa...

todi tqal-l-i t'i-ni I-flis.

qal-l-i:

la walla!

abadan!

ana atkaffdl-l-om wu-hada.

walla gahna stiwéna tartib b-al-
hada...

kumpyalat,

kann-u yatlsb-am °fliis wu...
‘tarfu b-al...

b-al-mahkama annahu moatlubin
2llo-nu.

qalto-l-u:

do-sma* d-aqal-l-ak:

ana ...

anta qa-tatkaffdl-l-om °t-tnén-am b-
’tletalaf Dinar,

ana at'i-k malk b-*as’gtalaf Dindr.

33 A prison's name.

101

He before...

before...

eight months (earlier)...

the approval for my parents was
issued again,

under the assumption that they
pay 1500 Dinars each as a
guarantee,

which would be lost if (a person)
didn't get back (to Iraq).

Indeed I organized it.

I had a lawyer fried who told me:
I will be their guarantor,

you shouldn't pay for them.

He was arrested by them (the
police) in...

Qasg an-Nohaya®.

I told him:

Beware, you will fall for it and
then...

you will come to tell me to give
you the money.

He told me:

No, I swear!

Never!

I will be their guarantor and (all)
that.

Indeed we went to arrange (it) in
the...

promissory note,

as if they owe him money...

they acknowledged in the...

in court that they owe him.

I told him:

Listen, let me tell you:

I..

you will guarantee both of them
for 3000 Dinars,

(and) I will give you a property
worth 10,000 Dinars.
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sawwi L... sawwi L...
l-kumpyalat hayi b-*as’gtalaf
Dinar.

qal:

ma yxalof.

walla...

hiyi tguih,

tguh.

i

suwena...

‘tarfu annahu hammi matlubin llo-
nu ‘a$’gtalaf Dinar,

wu-suwind-ha l-kafala wu...

wu-massito-ham “l-Landan *and-
axu-yi.

wu-hayi...

‘aq... wu-‘agb-a dall...
qad-astandag °l-pasapart,
qa-nastandag °l-pasaport.

i
walla fad...

fdd-yom ana...

hekad kan $oh’g as-siba®,

ad-doh’¢ qa‘din b-al-bét,

dohgiyi,

ma asif alla b-at-tlati ndaqq “l-
garas mal-telifon,

aqil ag-garas mal-al-bab.

i

gamtu,

qaltu:

mani *ad-na yagi d-dahgiyi hayi?
‘ayantu...

ma a’ays-nu slla hada sadiqi hawi
tag wu-nag’mten b-al...

b-al-amn al-*am.

and-u siyara shna...
rattabto-l-ya b-wagqt-a Angalya
tYind-nu mn-as-Saraka,

Make the...

this promissory note to the order
of 10,000 Dinars.

He said:

Okay (literally: doesn't
contradict).

Really...

(if) it goes (to waste),

(then let it) go (to waste).

Yes.

We did...

they acknowledged that they
owe him 10,000 Dinars,

and we made the guarantee
and...

and I arranged their travel to my
brother in London.

And it...

afterwards...

I was waiting for the passport,
we were waiting for the passport.
Yes.

Indeed one...

One day I...

it was July,

We were sitting at home at noon,
at noon,

suddenly, at three the phone
rung,

I mean the doorbell.

Yes.

I got up,

I said (to myself):

Who would come at noon?

I saw...

suddenly I saw my friend
(ranked) one crown and two
stars in the...

in the police.

He had a car that we...

I arranged for him a (Ford)
Anglia (car) in the past from the
company,
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Ford Hngolya.

weqaf wu-Seyyal °l-qapag mal-as-
siyara,

ya*ni kannu weqfi wniki,

ma qa-ya*saf as sag bi-ya,

motiattli,

i

hawi m°n-gawwa l-qapag qa-
yhaddst-ni qal-l-i:

MB(Hbrahim,

barha b-al-lel dabbet-l-ak garida b-
al...

b-al-hadiqa,

°gret-ha?

wa-katdbat-l-ak annahu tagini al-
fas’r b-’flan *mkan alaqi-k)™®.

qalto-l-u:

la walla!

ma... ma... ma ‘ayantu.
‘ayantu garida lakan ma...
ma ‘ayantu a$ aku bi-ya.

i
qal-l-i:

fala-kallon,

al-‘as’¢ todi l-tnik.

ana qdagtu a’gaf lo-hkiyi qadiyi
mal-Swayya fliis wu-tomsi lo-
hkiyat.

’llo-nu o6 l-geg-u,

as ‘and-i ana b...

i
walla gitu...

rga‘tu duwdgtu *a-g-garida lqiti-
ha...

hada farr-a...

wen waq‘at?

aku tanak...

mal-zab’l,

foqat...

b-tanakt ’z-zab’L.

i

103

Ford Anglia.

He was standing and lifting the
motor cover of the car,

as if it (the car) stopped there,
(and) he doesn’t know what
happened to it,

it's out of order,

yes.

He was speaking to me from
under the motor cover saying:
Abraham,

yesterday night I threw a
newspaper to the...

to the garden,

Have you read it?

And I wrote to you to come to
me in the afternoon, and that I
will meet you in a certain place.
I told him:

No, really!

I didn't... I didn't see.

I saw a newspaper but I didn't...
I didn't see what's in it.

Yes.

He told me:

Anyway,

come there in the afternoon.

I managed to find out that it's a
matter of a little bit of money
and it will be settled.

To him or to someone else,

I didn't care.

Yes.

Indeed I came...

I came back and looked for the
newspaper and found it.

He threw it...

where did it fall?

there was a can...

of garbage,

on top of...

the garbage can.

Yes.
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‘ayantii-ha ‘ala-kallon.

qal-l-i:

dolletu qad-atra...

walla galtu:

ana hada....

qad-ahki wiya-zawsgt-i wu-lo-bnat,

qalto-l-om:

walla ada li-hadd tlettalaf
agba'talaf Dinar,

ada qa-yagdon wu-sad’q yat'o-na
pasaportat,

ana...

ana asuwi-ya.

i
walla itu 1é-nu I-*as®¢ b-al-xamsi
wu-nass,

qal-l-i:

MB(qbrahim,

ana...

hadoli ham qadiyat sSwayya

ﬂﬂs MB ’

qalto-l-u:

kef-ak.

as$ tgid ana hadag.

baga hiuiwi sadig-i sad’q,
m°n-kallos.

ahl-u yagon *ad-na,
ahna ngith le-ham.

i
d-agid yohki d-aftdham.

qal-l-i:

MB(hayi...

ani rattdbat-ha t'et-hum. ..
t'et-hum. .. t'et-hum...

attafdqat °b-mitén Dindr wiya-
hom)ME,

ana ma qad-a‘gaf a$ qa-yqil hada.

sad’q miten wu-ma azyad?
mitén wu-ma...

I saw it anyway.

He told me:

I kept on...

I said:

I..

I spoke with my wife and
daughters,

I told them:

If it is really not more than 3000-
4000 Dinar,

If they want (it) and they will
really give us passports,

I..

I will do it.

Yes.

Indeed I came to him at half past
five in the afternoon,

He told me:

Abraham,

I..

it is also a matter of a little bit of
money to them.

I told him:

As you wish.

I am ready for whatever you
want.

He was a real friend,

a very (good) one.

His family used to come to us,
we used to go to them.

Yes.

I wanted him to speak so I will
understand.

He told me:

This...

I arranged it and gave them...
gave them...

I agreed with them upon 200
Dinars.

I didn't understand what he was
saying.

Really 200 no more?

(Only) 200.
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i
wu-ana tito-nu xomsin Dindr...

anta...

hayi ana m°n-*and-i,

ma *and-ak $ag°1 anta bi-ya.

ana...

anta ggib-1-i** bass miyi wu-xamsin
Dinar.

ma g-asaddaq ana.

ana mangqdrar tlettaldaf agba‘talaf.

i

qalto-l-u z...
qalto-l-u:

walla b-kef-ak.

a$ tgid ana hadag.

i

qal-l-i...

qalto-l-u:

lakan d-agiih agib-’l-k-iya I°-fliis.

qat:

la,

xalli-ha l-al-axir.
i
qal-l-i:

MB(fala-kallon,

rith l-as-safar,

a‘tdqad tilg-i hassa wasal l-as-safar
al-mu‘amala)™®,

baqa l-*asgiyat maftiha idarat as-
safar.

gohna l-uniki.

walla algi asami-na m‘allqa,

annahu qa-yat*6-na pasaport.

zen.
baga as lazam-’nsawwi?

105

Yes.

And I gave him 50 Dinars
(more).

You...

it is (a present) from me,

It's none of your business.

I..

(he insisted:) give me only 150
Dinars.

I couldn't believe it.

I already decided (to invest a
sum of) 3000-4000 (Dinars).
Yes.

I told him....

I told him:

Really, as you wish.

I am willing (to do) whatever
you want.

Yes.

He told me...

I told him:

Then I will go and bring you the
money.

He said:

No,

Leave it to the end.

Yes.

He told me:

Anyway,

go to the passport (office),

I think you will see now that the
request is (already) there.

In the afternoons the passport
office was opened.

We went there.

Indeed I saw our names hanging
(on the board),

(which means) that they are
going to give us passports.
Okay.

What should we do, then?

34 The prefix t- assimilated into the following g.
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ti... tini yom mn-as-sbah gahtu...

gahtu... l-as...

ha!

l-asami...

la

ma kanat *m‘allqa.

gohtu ‘ala-hada dabat 2§-Sarta,
qalto-l-u yaba...

qalto-l-u:

MB(aku hayi muwafaqa da...
galo-1-i aggat l-hon@)™®.

qal:

MB(i.

aggat I-hand dazzend-ha...)™®
ma-qa-yba‘ti-ha l-wizart ad-
daxiliyi b-al-awwal.

twaffaq *li-ha wizart ad-daxiliyi.

MB(dazzend-ha l-wizart ad-daxiliya,
qadiya mal-sba’ *zman wu-tagi)™".

i

standagtu sbi® sbu‘en,

maku!

maku?

maku.

walla.

and-i sadiq b-ad-Diwaniyi ‘and-u
wehad yastdgal b-al..

b-wizart ad-daxiliyi b-al-qyiid as-
Sarriyi.

i
qalto-l-u...

qalto-l-u:

Hazom,

MB(hada mu galat ab’n $éx Sagman
yastdgal b-ad-daxiliya)™®?

qal-l-i:

The next day in the morning I
went...

I went to...

Oh!

The names...

No!

They were not hanging (on the
board).

I went to the police officer,

I told him, please...

I told him:

There is this approval...

they told me that it arrived here.
He said:

Yes.

It came here and we sent it...
They send it to the Ministry of
Internal Affairs first.

So that the Ministry of Internal
Affairs would approve it.

We sent it to the Ministry of
Internal Affairs,

in a week's time it should come
(back) here.

Yes.

I waited for one-two weeks,
Nothing!

Nothing?

Nothing!

Really.

I had a friend in Diwaniyi that
has (knows) someone who works
in...

in the secret forces of (the
Ministry of) Internal (Affairs).
Yes.

I told him...

I told him:

Hazom,

Didn't you say that the son of
sheikh Sogman works in (the
Ministry of) Internal (Affairs)?
He told me:
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i
as ond-ak?

qalto-l-u:
hayi lo-hkiyi wu-hayi lo-hkiyi.

qal:
hassa ana agith l-ad-daxiliyi.

gah l-ad-daxiliyi,

v— v

ga gab-l-i...

qal-l-i:

MB(hayi sadra sar-l-a *as’rtiyam
sadra,

wu-hada l-raqum wu-t-ta’arix)™®,

i

MB(bas la...t...

la tgil...

la trith tanti-ham raqum,

hada sarriyi...)™=,
ya’ni t-tali yqallo-l1-ak *mneén gabt-u
l-ada r-rag’m?

i

walla rga‘tu ‘ala hada,

qalto-l-u:

yaba ana kant...

yom as-Sabat kan...

MB(raht kant b-ad-daxiliya wu-galo-
l-i -mu*amala dazzo-ha ‘ad-
kum)™®,

i

qat:

MB(ma aftdkar.

la,

ma wasldt-na) e,

t-tali qal-l-u l-wehad gawwa id-u,

107

Yes.

What do you need? (Literally:
what do you have?)

I told him:

This is the story and this is the
story.

He said:

I will go to (the Ministry of)
Internal (Affairs).

He went to (the Ministry of)
Internal (Affairs),

he came back and brought to
me...

he told me:

It was issued ten days ago,

and this is the number and the
date.

Yes.

But don't...

don’t say...

don't go and give them the
number,

it is confidential.

I mean, later they can ask you
where did you get this number
from.

Yes.

I came back to this guy,

(and) told him:

I was...

on Saturday...

I went to (the Ministry of)
Internal (Affairs) and they told
me that they sent the papers to
you.

Yes.

He said:

I don't think so.

No,

It didn’t arrive to us.
Afterwards he told one of his
subordinates,
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Sorti,
qal-l-u:
MB(ma d-dawwar)™® honi wu-honi?

qa-ydawwag.
i
qal:
MB(hd,

i

waslat waslat hayi qgeta-l-a ...

geta-l-a)™®,

hiiwdl-a l-2l... l-al...

tandim ag-gawazat,

hatti yat*6-na gawazat.

baqa ngadd lazom-"nsawwi...
’nsawwi istimara ham:
asm-ak,

asm abii-k,

wen °drast,

wen...

kall wehad.

L

zen,

hassa ana muskila ‘and-i mal-bant-i
hayi matxargi saydaliyi,

wu-haddk...
wu-hadak 2$-$oh¢ tala® am’r:

saydali,

tabib,

muhandos,

moamni’® as-safag,

alla hawi ygib mn-al-wizara mal-
hayi...

mat’l-wizart °s-sahha ada saydali
aw tabib,

twafoq L...

aw wizart al-asgal ada hiwi
muhandos,

yalla...

a policeman,

he told him:

Would you please check here and
here?

He was searching.

Yes.

He said:

Oh,

yeS,

It arrived, it arrived (and) I
read...

I read it.

He transferred it to the...
passport's organization,

so that they'd give us passports.
But we had to do...

to fill the forms again:

Your name,

your father's name,

where did you study,

where...

each one (of us).

Yes.

But,

I had the problem that my
daughter had just graduated
from pharmacology school.
and that...

and that month an order was
issued:

pharmacists,

(or) doctors,

(or) engineers,

(their) travel is prohibited.
Unless they bring (an approval)
from the Ministry of...

like the Ministry of Health if one
is a pharmacist or a doctor,
should approve the...

or the Ministry of Labor if he is
an engineer,

only then...
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yalla t*6-nu muwafaqa mal-safag.
ma qa-yagdo-ham yamson hdoli.

gohtu sayaltu,

qalu:

ma ysig alla...

alla lazom hayi...

tagi - muwafaqa.

baga hada l-muhami L...
wu-ba*d...

hada t-tkaffdl-am °L...

[-walsd-i wu-waldst-i.
i
qal...

qal-l-i:

walla wal...

wal-ak,

MB(<abra,

la tgil saydalaniya)™®.

qalto-l-u:

asSon?

ma...

awwal ma suwéna l-mu‘amala
katbat annhu “B(xarigat kulliyat as-
saydala)™®,

walla gina...

gina gohna qa-nsawwi l-mu‘amala
hayi mal-sahifat a’mal,

suwetu ana,

sawwat Alwiz,

wu-got Amal qa-tsuwi-ha.

i
qal-l-a:
MB(§-to-Staglin)™B?
qalat-l-u:
MB(rabbat bét)™®,
ana qolto-l-u...
qalto-l-u:
MB(rabbat beét)™®,
as fakkagtu...

109

only then they would give them
a travel approval.

They didn't want this (kind of)
people to travel.

I went and asked,

They said:

It is not allowed unless...
unless this...

this approval comes.

The lawyer who...

and...

the one who paied the guarantee
for....

for my father and mother.

Yes.

Said...

he told me:

Really...

beware,

It will be okay,

Don't say (that she is) a
pharmacist.

I told him:

How?

It is that...

when we just made the request
she wrote that she graduated
from the Pharmacology school.
Indeed we came...

we went to make the process of
giving our resume,

I did (it),

Alwiz did (it),

And Amal came to do it.

Yes.

He told her:

What is your profession?

She told him:

Homemaker.

I told him...

I told him:

Homemaker.

I thought...
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ma...
ma m*ayni-ha,
wu-wala qa-tastdgal.

gé‘di b-al-beét.
walla wu-masat lo-hkiyi.

MB(rabbat bet)™®,

wu-gaddat Gilda sawwat hami.
wu-qalu:

waddi...

MB(riih $t...Stori tawaba® mit
Dinar)™®,

kall pasaport xamsi wu-*a8gin
Dinar.

Sgetu tawaba’...

l-ag-gawazat.

stawo-l-i L...

qalo-l-i:

tagi b-al-wahdi wu-nass taxsd-a l-
pasaportat.

i

ana yangad-asawwi mu‘*amala mal-
gadri lazam ‘alamiyi.

i

wu-mal-daribt ad-dax’l.
mhadd3g-a mal-gadri...

ana adgob gadri?

and-i sadiq yomsi l-ad-Diwaniyi,

qalto-l-u:

hada aku muwaddaf sahhi sadiq-i
wniki b-ad-Diwaniyi.

gib-l-i monn-u.

qal-l-i...
gtih gib-l-i Sahada.

no...

they never saw her,

And she is (currently) not
working.

She is (literally: sitting) at home.
And it really worked (Literally:
and the thing walked).
Housemaker.

And Gilda also did (it).

And they said:

Take...

go buy posts tamps (in the value
of) 100 Dinars,

25 Dinars for each passport.

I bought posts tamps...

for the passports.

They made for me the...

they told me:

Come at 13:30 to take the
passports.

Yes.

I had to get an international
approval (of vaccination against)
smallpox.

Yes.

And of income tax.

I already prepared the one of the
smallpox.

I will never do the vaccine
against smallpox (rhetorically: I
will get injected smallpox?).

I had a friend that used to travel
to Diwaniyi,

I told him:

There is a health officer who is a
friend of mine there in Diwaniyi.
Bring me (the approval) from
him.

He told me...

(I told him:) go bring me a
certificate.
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gab-l-i Sahadat wu-hada,

wadditii-ha l-iiniki,
suwo-l-i Sahada ‘alamiyi,

a?

wu-gitu b-al-wahdi wu-nass ax...
axadtii-ha l-pasaportat kamli.
axadtii-ha l-pasaportat kamli...
walla... qal-l-i...

and-i sadiq hada Hasqel ab’n Saloh
Pihaq,

qal-l-i:

hadoli ah?l sar... sarikat...
ada...

§-Sarq al-Awsat hadoli sadqan-i,
mal-tiyaran m...

tayaran mal-Labnan.

i

len qa-agid am...

baqa ana gat-ni...

gat-ni viza l-Landan,

gat-na viyaz “l-Landan.

qaltu:

walla a*tf wu-asgad,

qad-axaf la yhasson b-Amal
annahu hiyi saydalaniyi.

qal... galto-l-u:

la,

ana agid...

ana agid gada amsi.

zen.

gohtu axad...

al-‘as’¢ gohna l-hayi sarikat §-Sarq
al-Awsat mal-tayaran mal-Labnan,
qat:

ahna...

hayi kanat yom at-tlatd,

qat:

ahna yom lo-xmis ‘adn-a tiyara.
zen,

stif-l-i ger tiyara L..

111

He brought me the certificates
and (all) that,

I took them to them,

they made an international
certificate for me,

Okay?

And I came at 13:30...

I took all the passports.

I took all the passports...

He told me...

I had a friend named Hoasqél ab°n
Salah Piha,

he told me:

The owners of the company...
if...

§-Sarq al-Awsat are my friends,
of the airline of...

the (national) airline of Lebanon.
Yes.

Because I wanted to...

Since I got...

I got a visa to London,

we got visas to London.

I said:

I should leave (everything) and
run away.

I was afraid that they will notice
that Amal is a pharmacist.

I... I told him:

No,

I want...

I want to travel tomorrow.
Okay.

I went...

in the afternoon we went to the
Lebanese $-Sarq al-Awsat airline,
He said:

We...

it was Tuesday,

he said:

We have a plane on Thursday.
(I said): okay,

find for me another plane to...
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Labnan.

qal:

maku.

bass yom lo-xmis.

n’gbartu.

dallena li-yom lo-xmis.

baqga gahtu tini yom mn-as-sbah I-
as-safara ...

l-Ingliziyi,

axadtu l-viyaz mal-Landan.

L

wu...

wu-gahtu axadtu,

yat’o-na kall wehad miyi wu-23g. ..

miyi wu-23gin...

miyi wu-*a$g¢a Dnanir kanot.
axadtu traval ¢ek ham stwitii-ha.
wu-yom lo-xmis mn-as-sbah xalléena
b-at-tiyara wu-gahna L...

gahna [-Beyriit.
L
dollena b-Labnan yagi-ida’s yom
wu-‘agb-a gohna Swayya I-Tarkiya
wu-ba‘den gahna l-Angsltara wu-
gina li-honi.

L

bas...

su’al,

hayi awwal...
fdd-doga hawwalt tanhdzam
wala...

la,

marra wahdi,
marra wahdi.
marra wahdi.
marra wahdi.

Lebanon.

He said:

There isn't.

Only on Thursdays.

I didn't have any other choice.
We stayed till Thursday.

The next day in the morning I
went to the embassy...

the British (embassy),

I took the visas to London.
Yes.

And...

and I went to take...

they gave each one of us one
hundred and...

120...

it was 110 Dinars.

I took it as travel checks.

And on Thursday morning we
put (ourselves) on the plane and
traveled to...

we went to Beirut.

Yes.

We stayed in Lebanon around
eleven days and then a little bit
in Turkey and then we went to
England and came here (to
Israel).

Yes.

But...

(I have) a question:

It was the first...

You tried to flee away only once
or...?

No,

once,

once.

once.

once.
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